

# GOPEN ACCESS

**Citation:** Jefferson C, Watson E, Certa JM, Gordon KS, Park LS, D'Souza G, et al. (2022) Differences in COVID-19 testing and adverse outcomes by race, ethnicity, sex, and health system setting in a large diverse US cohort. PLoS ONE 17(11): e0276742. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276742

**Editor:** Edward Jay Trapido, LSU Health Sciences Center New Orleans: Louisiana State University Health Sciences Center, UNITED STATES

Received: April 30, 2022

Accepted: September 8, 2022

Published: November 23, 2022

**Copyright:** This is an open access article, free of all copyright, and may be freely reproduced, distributed, transmitted, modified, built upon, or otherwise used by anyone for any lawful purpose. The work is made available under the <u>Creative</u> Commons CC0 public domain dedication.

Data Availability Statement: As a clinical healthcare system, Kaiser Permanente (KP) is responsible for the confidentiality and protection of our members' data. As such, we are required by organizational policy to ensure outside access and/ or procurement requests involving clinical data, regardless of data de-identification, are reviewed by the proper personnel within the Mid-Atlantic Permanente Research Institute (MAPRI) for appropriate research use, purpose, disclosure tracking, and potential for security risks. Research **RESEARCH ARTICLE** 

# Differences in COVID-19 testing and adverse outcomes by race, ethnicity, sex, and health system setting in a large diverse US cohort

Celeena Jefferson<sup>1</sup><sup>®</sup>, Eric Watson<sup>1</sup><sup>\*</sup>, Julia M. Certa<sup>2</sup><sup>®</sup>, Kirsha S. Gordon<sup>3,4</sup><sup>®</sup>, Lesley S. Park<sup>5</sup><sup>®</sup>, Gypsyamber D'Souza<sup>6</sup><sup>®</sup>, Lorie Benning<sup>6</sup><sup>®</sup>, Alison G. Abraham<sup>7</sup><sup>®</sup>, Deana Agil<sup>8</sup><sup>®</sup>, Sonia Napravnik<sup>8</sup><sup>®</sup>, Michael J. Silverberg<sup>9</sup><sup>®</sup>, Wendy A. Leyden<sup>9</sup><sup>®</sup>, Jacek Skarbinski<sup>9</sup><sup>®</sup>, Carolyn Williams<sup>10</sup><sup>®</sup>, Keri N. Althoff<sup>6</sup><sup>®</sup>, Michael A. Horberg<sup>1</sup><sup>®</sup>, on behalf of the NA-ACCORD Corona-Infectious-Virus Epidemiology Team (CIVET)<sup>1</sup>

1 Kaiser Permanente Mid-Atlantic Permanente Medical Group, Mid-Atlantic Permanente Research Institute, Rockville, Maryland, United States of America, 2 United Health Group, Fredrick, Maryland, United States of America, 3 Yale School of Medicine, Department of General Internal Medicine, New Haven, Connecticut, United States of America, 4 VA Connecticut Healthcare System, West Haven, Connecticut, United States of America, 5 Stanford Center for Population Health Sciences, Stanford University School of Medicine, Palo Alto, California, United States of America, 6 Department of Epidemiology, Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, Baltimore, Maryland, United States of America, 7 Department of Epidemiology, Anschutz Medical Campus, University of Colorado, Aurora, Colorado, United States of America, 8 Department of Medicine, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, North Carolina, United States of America, 10 Division of AIDS, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, Rockville, Maryland, United States of America

• These authors contributed equally to this work.

 $\P$  Membership of the NA-ACCORD Corona-Infectious-Virus Epidemiology Team (CIVET) is provided in the Acknowledgments.

\* Eric.S.Watson@kp.org

## Abstract

### Background

Racial/ethnic disparities during the first six months of the COVID-19 pandemic led to differences in COVID-19 testing and adverse outcomes. We examine differences in testing and adverse outcomes by race/ethnicity and sex across a geographically diverse and systembased COVID-19 cohort collaboration.

### Methods

Observational study among adults ( $\geq$ 18 years) within six US cohorts from March 1, 2020 to August 31, 2020 using data from electronic health record and patient reporting. Race/ethnicity and sex as risk factors were primary exposures, with health system type (integrated health system, academic health system, or interval cohort) as secondary. Proportions measured SARS-CoV-2 testing and positivity; attributed hospitalization and death related to COVID-19. Relative risk ratios (RR) with 95% confidence intervals quantified associations between exposures and main outcomes. requests will be received at MAPRI-Team@kp.org. All data requests will be reviewed by the MAPRI compliance officer and principal investigator within 30 business days upon receipt of request. All requesters will be required to provide a statement of need and comply with MAPRI policy and requirements. Failure to produce sufficient information and/or a request that doesn't meet MAPRI policy, may be denied. Research data that is to be made publicly available for published manuscripts are required to remain behind Kaiser Permanente's firewall until it can be released to outside entities through secure file transfer protocols, provided all stipulations listed above for the data request are met.

Funding: All authors (except Carolyn Williams from National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases) received grant funding through the NA-ACCORD Corona-Infectious-Virus Epidemiology Team (CIVET) collaboration. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health. This work was supported by National Institutes of Health grants U01AI069918, F31AI124794, F31DA037788, G12MD007583, K01Al093197, K01Al131895, K23EY013707, K24Al065298, K24Al118591, K24DA000432, KL2TR000421, N01CP01004. N02CP055504, N02CP91027, P30Al027757, P30AI027763, P30AI027767, P30AI036219, P30AI050409, P30AI050410, P30AI094189, P30AI110527, P30MH62246, R01AA016893, R01DA011602, R01DA012568, R01 AG053100, R24AI067039. U01AA013566. U01AA020790. U01AI038855, U01AI038858, U01AI068634, U01AI068636, U01AI069432, U01AI069434, U01DA03629, U01DA036935, U10EY008057, U10EY008052, U10EY008067, U01HL146192, U01HL146193, U01HL146194, U01HL146201, U01HL146202. U01HL146203. U01HL146204. U01HL146205, U01HL146208, U01HL146240, U01HL146241, U01HL146242, U01HL146245, U01HL146333, U24AA020794, U54MD007587, UL1RR024131, UL1TR000004, UL1TR000083, Z01CP010214 and Z01CP010176; contracts CDC-200-2006-18797 and CDC-200-2015-63931 from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, USA; contract 90047713 from the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, USA; contract 90051652 from the Health Resources and Services Administration, USA; grants CBR-86906, CBR-94036. HCP-97105 and TGF-96118 from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research, Canada; Ontario Ministry of Health and Long Term Care; and the Government of Alberta, Canada. Additional support was provided by the National Institute Of Allergy And Infectious Diseases (NIAID), National

#### Results

5,958,908 patients were included. Hispanic patients had the highest proportions of SARS-CoV-2 testing (16%) and positivity (18%), while Asian/Pacific Islander patients had the lowest portions tested (11%) and White patients had the lowest positivity rates (5%). Men had a lower likelihood of testing (RR = 0.90 [0.89–0.90]) and a higher positivity risk (RR = 1.16 [1.14–1.18]) compared to women. Black patients were more likely to have COVID-19-related hospitalizations (RR = 1.36 [1.28–1.44]) and death (RR = 1.17 [1.03–1.32]) compared with White patients. Men were more likely to be hospitalized (RR = 1.30 [1.16–1.22]) or die (RR = 1.70 [1.53–1.89]) compared to women. These racial/ethnic and sex differences were reflected in both health system types.

#### Conclusions

This study supports evidence of disparities by race/ethnicity and sex during the COVID-19 pandemic that persisted even in healthcare settings with reduced barriers to accessing care. Further research is needed to understand and prevent the drivers that resulted in higher burdens of morbidity among certain Black patients and men.

### Introduction

In the United States, medical literature has exposed significant disparities in testing, infection, and adverse outcomes related to COVID-19 (caused by SARS-CoV-2); in particular, Black and Hispanic Americans have been disproportionately impacted by COVID-19 [1–19]. However, few large-scale multi-regional investigations into these disparities have been reported [1, 19, 20], none of which describe differences by type of health system.

Early data suggested COVID-19 testing and positivity differed by sex and race/ethnicity, with reduced testing among minority populations but higher positivity among Black and Hispanic Americans compared to White Americans [9, 13, 21, 22] as well as adverse COVID-19 outcomes, such as hospitalizations and deaths [1, 12]. These disparities in access to COVID-19 diagnosis and care are associated with long-standing inequities in the US [23]. The impact of differential exposure to SARS-CoV-2, inequities in health care access, and underlying comorbid conditions remain unresolved.

We sought to evaluate racial/ethnic and sex differences in SARS-CoV-2 testing and positivity and COVID-19-related hospitalization and death within six demographically and geographically diverse cohorts, and to determine if these differences persist in the context of different health system models.

#### Methods

#### **CIVET cohort**

The Corona-Infectious-Virus Epidemiology Team (CIVET) is a collaboration of three integrated health systems, two academic health centers, and one interval cohort which was a clinical cohort of people with and without HIV. [24] that participate in the North American AIDS Cohort Collaboration on Research and Design (NA-ACCORD): [25] Kaiser Permanente Northern California (KPNC); Kaiser Permanente Mid-Atlantic States (KPMAS); MACS/ WIHS Combined Cohort Study (MWCCS); [24] University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill

Cancer Institute (NCI), National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (NHLBI), Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute Of Child Health & Human Development (NICHD), National Human Genome Research Institute (NHGRI), National Institute for Mental Health (NIMH) and National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA), National Institute On Aging (NIA), National Institute Of Dental & Craniofacial Research (NIDCR), National Institute Of Neurological Disorders And Stroke (NINDS), National Institute Of Nursing Research (NINR), National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA), National Institute on Deafness and Other Communication Disorders (NIDCD), and National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (NIDDK) National Institutes of Health https://www.nih.gov/ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention - https://www.cdc.gov/ Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality - https://www. ahrq.gov/ Health Resources and Services Administration - https://www.hrsa.gov/ Canadian Institutes of Health Research - https://cihr-irsc.gc. ca/e/193.html Ontario Ministry of Health and Long Term Care - https://www.health.gov.on.ca/en/ Government of Alberta - https://www.alberta.ca/ index.aspx National Institute Of Allergy And Infectious Diseases (NIAID) - https://www.niaid. nih.gov/ National Cancer Institute (NCI) - https:// www.cancer.gov/ National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute (NHLBI) - https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/ Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute Of Child Health & Human Development (NICHD) - https:// www.nichd.nih.gov/ National Human Genome Research Institute (NHGRI) - https://www.genome. gov/ National Institute for Mental Health (NIMH) and National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA) https://nida.nih.gov/ National Institute On Aging (NIA) - https://www.nia.nih.gov/ National Institute Of Dental & Craniofacial Research (NIDCR) https://www.nidcr.nih.gov/ National Institute Of Neurological Disorders And Stroke (NINDS) https://www.ninds.nih.gov/ National Institute Of Nursing Research (NINR) - https://www.ninr.nih. gov/ National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA) - https://www.niaaa.nih.gov/ National Institute on Deafness and Other Communication Disorders (NIDCD) - https://www. nidcd.nih.gov/ National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (NIDDK) - https:// www.niddk.nih.gov/ Carolyn Williams from NIH played a role in the study design and preparation of the manuscript.

**Competing interests:** The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

HIV Clinical Cohort (UCHCC); [26] Vanderbilt Comprehensive Care Clinic HIV Cohort (VBCCC); and Veterans Aging Cohort Study (VACS) [27]. In March 2020, these sites had either initiated COVID-19 clinical cohorts within their individual sites, linking existing large-scale cohorts of people to electronic COVID-19 testing, symptoms, and diagnosis data, or surveys related to COVID-19.

The CIVET cohort included individuals from each site who met study inclusion and exclusion criteria. Each cohort restricted their study population to include: 1) individuals who were alive as of March 1, 2020; and 2) individuals who were "in care" or "in cohort," which was operationalized differently for each cohort but based on individuals who had recently interacted with the health system or interval study (S1 Table).

#### Study design

We conducted a retrospective analysis of the CIVET cohort to investigate differences by race/ ethnicity and sex in COVID-19-related outcomes (testing, positivity, hospitalization, and death) among adults ( $\geq$ 18 years old) between March 1, 2020 and August 31, 2020. The study period was restricted to the initial viral serotype timeframe to limit possible differences by variants. An index date for each participant was defined as either: 1) the first positive SARS-CoV-2 polymerase chain reaction (PCR) test laboratory date, 2) the last negative or pending/invalid SARS-CoV-2 PCR test laboratory date (if no positive test found), or 3) March 1, 2020 (for those not found to have been PCR tested). Patient-level data were aggregated at each site and sent to KPMAS. American Community Survey (ACS) data from the US Census Bureau was also collected for population level comparisons [28, 29].

#### Exposure

Sex (male, female, other, unknown) was identified by data availability of sex at birth or selfreported sex/gender. Other and unknown sex categories were too small and excluded. Race/ ethnicity was self-reported and classified as non-Hispanic White, non-Hispanic Black, Hispanic, Asian/Pacific Islander (API), other, and unknown (excluded from analyses). To determine the robustness of racial/ethnic and sex differences to barriers to healthcare, participating clinical cohorts were further grouped by type of health system, defined as integrated health systems (KPNC, KPMAS, VACS), academic health systems (UCHCC, VBCCC), and interval cohort (MWCCS). Integrated systems represented lower barriers to care, with membership allowing patients to readily communicate with healthcare professionals, initiate e-visits, and access SARS-CoV-2 testing. In contrast, academic systems are open to the public and often serve as safety-net providers in their communities, but acknowledging these differences are fluid [30]. The interval cohort is an HIV cohort consisting of persons with and without HIV.

#### Main outcomes

**SARS-CoV-2 testing and positivity.** SARS-CoV-2 RT-PCR testing status (yes/no), date, and result (positive, negative, pending/invalid) were extracted from electronic health record (EHR) systems and reported as composite data from each cohort. During the study period (March–August 2020), routine testing was limited and generally at the discretion of a clinician due to changes in testing availability and guidelines, which differed by state and healthcare system. Testing was calculated as those tested among the entire study population. Positivity was calculated as the number testing positive among those tested.

**Hospitalization.** Patients hospitalized with clinical syndrome of COVID-19 within seven days prior to and 45 days after their first positive SARS-CoV-2 test were included. To identify inpatient encounters associated with clinical COVID-19, the following International

Classification of Disease, Tenth Edition (ICD-10) codes were pulled from hospitalization records: B97.2x, J12.8x, J12.9, J18.x, J20.8, J22, J80, J96.0x, J96.2x, J96.9x, M35.8x, A41.x, R65.x. We were unable to discriminate between COVID-19 as the primary cause of hospitalization versus hospitalization primarily for another cause but with COVID-19, so patients with nonspecific COVID-19 codes were included [31]. Additionally, as the pandemic progressed, more specific ICD codes were activated [31–34].

**Death.** Mortality data and the death outcome were measured by patients who were known to be deceased after their first positive SARS-CoV-2 test during the study period. The rest were presumed alive. Death data was obtained from EHR systems, claims, the VA Vital Status File, which includes data from inpatient records, the VA Beneficiary Identification Records Locator Subsystem, Social Security Administration, and the Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services.

#### Statistical analysis

Each site shared standardized de-identified, aggregate tables with KPMAS, and were pooled for analyses. We calculated the proportion tested (among the study population), the proportion with detectable SARS-CoV-2 PCR test results (among those tested), and the proportions who were hospitalized and died (among those with detectable SARS-CoV-2 PCR results). We used an *a priori* study team consensus-driven minimal important difference of +/-3% to guide our interpretation of differences in the outcomes by race/ethnicity and sex, and a chi-squared ( $\chi^2$ ) test statistic ( $\alpha = 0.05$ ) in the pooled aggregated data for interpretation of statistical significance.

We calculated Cochran–Mantel–Haenszel stratification-adjusted relative risk ratios (RR) and associated 95% confidence intervals (CI) to quantify associations between race/ethnicity and sex and study outcomes. We adjusted for race/ethnicity or sex to isolate risk factor effects and stratified the estimated outcome proportions and the RRs by clinical cohort health system type (integrated health system, academic health system, or interval cohort) to determine if the differences persisted in the setting of lowered barriers to healthcare. Due to differences in the size and cohort selection criteria (VACS includes people without HIV who are demographically matched to people with HIV), the analyses in the integrated health systems group were further stratified by cohort (KPNC, KPMAS, and VACS) to determine the robustness of the intragroup differences; it was determined that the three cohorts were similar enough to remain cohesively grouped. Analyses were performed using SAS 9.4 (Cary, NC). Approval was obtained from each participating site's institutional review board, which included waivers of written informed consent.

#### Results

A total of 5,958,908 patients (5,955,269 from clinical cohorts and 3,639 from the interval cohort) were included in the study population, of whom 5,724 were hospitalized with clinical syndrome COVID-19 diagnoses and 1,399 died after a detectable SARS-CoV-2 PCR test result (Table 1). The overall study population was 45% White, 13% Black, 15% Hispanic, 14% Asian/Pacific Islander, 53% female, and 71% <60 years old. Comparatively, the US population, based on 2020 American Community Survey (ACS) estimates, was 60% White, 12% Black, 18% Hispanic, 6% Asian/Pacific Islander, 51% female, and 71% <60 years old [28, 29]. Fifty-seven percent (57%) were commercially insured, 32% with publicly supported insurance (Medicare, Medicaid, ACA), 25% received care in an academic health system, 75% in an integrated health system, and <1% were enrolled in the single interval cohort. Most notable distinctions in cohort distributions include primarily older, >60 years old, in cohorts E (57%) and S (40%);

Characteristic	Overall	Testing Status				
		Positive	Negative	Not Tested		
Total Patients (N, %):	5,958,908	66,014 (1%)	661,058 (11%)	5,231,771 (88%)		
Health System Type (N, %)						
Academic Health Systems	1,473,301 (25%)	15,249 (23%)	138,789 (21%)	1,319,263 (25%)		
Integrated Health Systems	4,481,968 (75%)	50,661 (77%)	521,038 (79%)	3,910,206 (75%)		
Interval HIV Cohort	3,639 (<1%)	104 (<1%)	1,231 (<1%)	2,302 (<1%)		
Age (N, %):						
18-29	1,143,859 (19%)	15,955 (24%)	116,990 (18%)	1,010,910 (19%)		
30-39	1,070,408 (18%)	13,283 (20%)	124,196 (19%)	932,922 (18%)		
40-49	968,795 (16%)	12,643 (19%)	106,737 (16%)	849,407 (16%)		
50-59	1,024,366 (17%)	11,778 (18%)	115,444 (17%)	897,134 (17%)		
60-69	917,935 (15%)	7,453 (11%)	103,238 (16%)	807,216 (15%)		
70+	833,545 (14%)	4,902 (7%)	94,453 (14%)	734,182 (14%)		
Race/Ethnicity (N, %):						
White	2,705,253 (45%)	16,413 (25%)	312,053 (47%)	2,376,772 (45%)		
Black	756,543 (13%)	11,542 (17%)	92,188 (14%)	652,772 (12%)		
Hispanic	874,131 (15%)	24,576 (37%)	113,118 (17%)	736,432 (14%)		
Asian/Pacific Islander	811,271 (14%)	5,813 (9%)	81,972 (12%)	723,485 (14%)		
Other	148,822 (2%)	1,421 (2%)	19,006 (3%)	128,394 (2%)		
Unknown	662,888 (11%)	6,249 (9%)	42,721 (6%)	613,916 (12%)		
Sex (N, %):						
Male	2,802,087 (47%)	31,453 (48%)	286,358 (43%)	2,484,223 (47%)		
Female	3,155,582 (53%)	34,552 (52%)	374,588 (57%)	2,746,430 (52%)		
Unknown	1,233 (<1%)	9 (<1%)	112 (<1%)	1,112 (<1%)		
Other	6 (<1%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	6 (<1%)		
Insurance Status/Line of Business (N, %):						
Commercial	3,418,447 (57%)	40,425 (61%)	381,110 (58%)	2,996,906 (57%)		
Medicare	1,195,814 (20%)	7,211 (11%)	143,052 (22%)	1,045,545 (20%)		
Medicaid	318,080 (5%)	4,690 (7%)	38,722 (6%)	274,663 (5%)		
ACA Exchange	390,387 (7%)	4,117 (6%)	35,531 (5%)	350,738 (7%)		
Charity Care	2,463 (0%)	42 (0%)	195 (0%)	2,226 (0%)		
Other LOB	86,961 (1%)	1,062 (2%)	5,910 (1%)	79,989 (2%)		
No Insurance	155,062 (3%)	2,477 (4%)	15,098 (2%)	137,487 (3%)		
Unknown	391,694 (7%)	5,990 (9%)	41,440 (6%)	344,217 (7%)		
Hospitalized with Clinical Syndrome COVID-19 Diagnoses (N, %)	24,451 (<1%)	5,724 (9%)	18,722 (3%)			
Known Dead (N, %)	1,399 (<1%)	1,399 (2%)				

#### Table 1. Patient characteristics by SARS-CoV-2 testing status, March 1, 2020-August 31, 2020.

Abbreviations: ACA, Affordable Care Act; LOB, line of business

Cell percentages are calculated from SARS-CoV-2 Testing Status (column) totals.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276742.t001

higher proportion of White in cohorts V (63%) and T(70%); higher proportion of black in cohorts C (35%), E (46%) and S (41%); higher proportion of Hispanic in cohorts C (12%) and I (20%); large majority of males in cohort E (96%); and high proportion of Medicare in cohort V (31%) (Table 2).

During the study period, 1% of the study population tested positive for SARS-CoV-2, 11% tested negative, and 88% had no evidence of testing. Demographics differed by testing status. Hispanic patients formed the plurality of those testing positive (37%) but only 14% of those

#### Table 2. Patient characteristics by Cohort, March 1, 2020-August 31, 2020.

Characteristic	Overall	Cohorts					
		С	I	v	E	Т	S
Total Patients (N, %):	5,958,908	686,438 (12%)	3,687,471 (62%)	851,184 (14%)	108,059 (2%)	622,117 (10%)	3,639 (0%)
Age (N, %):							
18-29	1,143,859 (19%)	145,116 (21%)	745,778 (20%)	129,265 (15%)	867 (1%)	122,809 (20%)	24 (1%)
30-39	1,070,408 (18%)	128,208 (19%)	720,534 (20%)	113,520 (13%)	7,379 (7%)	100,473 (16%)	294 (8%)
40-49	968,795 (16%)	113,793 (17%)	626,935 (17%)	123,640 (15%)	9,926 (9%)	93,850 (15%)	651 (18%)
50–59	1,024,366 (17%)	121,316 (18%)	622,358 (17%)	148,750 (17%)	27,805 (26%)	102,923 (17%)	1,214 (33%)
60-69	917,935 (15%)	101,288 (15%)	521,600 (14%)	153,047 (18%)	38,979 (36%)	101,964 (16%)	1,057 (29%)
70+	833,545 (14%)	76,717 (11%)	450,266 (12%)	182,962 (21%)	23,103 (21%)	100,098 (16%)	399 (11%)
Race/Ethnicity (N, %):							
White	2,705,253 (45%)	181,078 (26%)	1,515,317 (41%)	536,741 (63%)	37,868 (35%)	432,966 (70%)	1,283 (35%)
Black	756,543 (13%)	240,235 (35%)	233,158 (6%)	170,748 (20%)	49,246 (46%)	61,649 (10%)	1,507 (41%)
Hispanic	874,131 (15%)	79,862 (12%)	729,662 (20%)	49,299 (6%)	9,111 (8%)	6,017 (1%)	180 (5%)
Asian/Pacific Islander	811,271 (14%)	82,311 (12%)	702,442 (19%)	14,021 (2%)	1,128 (1%)	11,342 (2%)	27 (1%)
Other	148,822 (2%)	15,358 (2%)	106,462 (3%)	18,283 (2%)	1,479 (1%)	6,608 (1%)	632 (17%)
Unknown	662,888 (11%)	87,594 (13%)	400,430 (11%)	62,092 (7%)	9,227 (9%)	103,535 (17%)	10 (0%)
Sex (N, %):							
Male	2,802,087 (47%)	315,758 (46%)	1,782,014 (48%)	347,972 (41%)	104,113 (96%)	250,514 (40%)	1,716 (47%)
Female	3,155,582 (53%)	370,680 (54%)	1,904,839 (52%)	503,024 (59%)	3,946 (4%)	371,170 (60%)	1,923 (53%)
Unknown	1,233 (0%)	0 (0%)	612 (0%)	188 (0%)	0 (0%)	433 (0%)	0 (0%)
Other	6 (0%)	0 (0%)	6 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)
Insurance Status/Line of Business (N, %):							
Commercial	3,418,447 (57%)	414,634 (60%)	2,429,919 (66%)	384,073 (45%)	0 (0%)	189,821 (31%)	0 (0%)
Medicare	1,195,814 (20%)	114,124 (17%)	705,581 (19%)	265,352 (31%)	0 (0%)	110,757 (18%)	0 (0%)
Medicaid	318,080 (5%)	59,140 (9%)	172,579 (5%)	61,821 (7%)	0 (0%)	24,540 (4%)	0 (0%)
ACA	390,387 (7%)	41,723 (6%)	338,869 (9%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	9,795 (2%)	0 (0%)
Charity Care	2,463 (0%)	857 (0%)	1,606 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)
Other LOB	86,961 (1%)	4,167 (1%)	28,198 (1%)	36,669 (4%)	0 (0%)	17,927 (3%)	0 (0%)
No Insurance	155,062 (3%)	51,793 (8%)	0 (0%)	103,269 (12%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)
Unknown	391,694 (7%)	0 (0%)	10,719 (0%)	0 (0%)	108,059 (100%)	269,277 (43%)	3,639 (100%)
Hospitalized for any reason (N, %)	83,833 (1%)	6,901 (1%)	31,868 (1%)	14,775 (2%)	4,584 (4%)	25,705 (4%)	0 (0%)
Hospitalized with Clinical Syndrome COVID-19 Diagnoses (N, %)	24,451 (0%)	1,209 (0%)	13,898 (0%)	5,143 (1%)	864 (1%)	3,316 (1%)	21 (1%)
Known Dead (N, %)	1,399 (0%)	283 (0%)	578 (0%)	324 (0%)	134 (0%)	80 (0%)	0 (0%)

Specific CIVET cohort site names have been masked.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276742.t002

not tested, while White patients formed the plurality of those testing negative (47%), aligning with the race distribution in those who were not tested. There was a greater proportion of women among those who tested positive (52%). The age distribution among those with positive test results was skewed to younger ages, with 82% < 60 years old, whereas the age distribution among those who tested negative was more evenly distributed across age groups

Those hospitalized with a clinical COVID-19 diagnosis (5,580) were predominantly Hispanic (1,979; 35%) and male (3,224; 58%). Those who died after a detectable SARS-CoV-2 test result (1,371) were more likely to be White (511; 37%) and male (820; 60%).

#### Racial/ethnic and sex differences in COVID-19 outcomes

Among the six clinical cohorts, Hispanic patients had the highest proportion tested for SARS-CoV-2, while Asian/Pacific Islander had the lowest proportions tested, overall and when stratified by sex (Fig 1A). After controlling for sex, these differences persisted (Hispanic RR = 1.31 [95% CI: 1.30–1.32]; API RR = 0.90 [0.89–0.90]; Table 3a). After controlling for race/ethnicity to investigate sex differences, men had lower proportions of testing than women (RR = 0.90 [0.89–0.90]).

Patterns in overall positivity percentages (Fig 1B) followed those in testing, with the highest positivity risk among Hispanic patients (RR = 3.58 [3.51-3.64]; Table 3b). However, while more women sought testing, Hispanic men were more likely to test PCR positive than



**Fig 1.** Racial/ethnic and sex differences in COVID-19 outcomes in clinical cohorts for (A) SARS-CoV-2 testing, (B) positivity, (C) hospitalization, and (D) death. Overall percentages are calculated among clinical cohort population (N = 5,304,631). Percentages by sex are calculated out of the overall number of members within each race group. Asian/PI = Asian/Pacific Islander.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276742.g001

a. Testing risk ratios & 95	% confidence intervals					
CIVET Cohort		RA	CE*		SEX**	
	API	BLA	HIS	OTH	MALE	
С	0.72	0.98	1.14	0.86	0.84	
	0.70, 0.73	0.96, 0.99	1.12, 1.16	0.83, 0.90	0.83, 0.85	
I	0.83	1.04	1.20	1.08	0.84	
	0.82, 0.84	1.03, 1.05	1.19, 1.21	1.06, 1.09	0.84, 0.85	
v	0.94	1.08	1.64	1.14	1.00	
	0.89, 0.99	1.06, 1.10	1.60, 1.68	1.09, 1.19	0.98, 1.01	
E	0.91	1.35	1.29	0.69	1.00	
	0.77, 1.07	1.31, 1.40	1.23, 1.36	0.59, 0.82	0.93, 1.08	
T	0.90	1.10	1.31	1.40	1.07	
	0.86, 0.96	1.07, 1.12	1.23, 1.39	1.33, 1.48	1.05, 1.08	
S	1.07	1.02	1.19	1.12	1.04	
	0.64, 1.79	0.9, 1.17	0.98, 1.45	0.96, 1.31	0.94, 1.16	
OVERALL	0.90	1.13	1.31	1.13	0.90	
	0.89, 0.90	1.12, 1.14	1.30, 1.32	1.12, 1.15	0.89, 0.90	
b. Positivity risk ratios & 9	95% confidence intervals					
CIVET Cohort		RACE*				
	API	BLA	HIS	OTH	MALE	
С	1.92	2.59	5.30	1.95	1.17	
	1.79, 2.07	2.46, 2.74	5.02, 5.59	1.71, 2.22	1.14, 1.21	
I	1.54	2.00	3.98	1.28	1.19	
	1.49, 1.60	1.92, 2.09	3.88, 4.09	1.19, 1.37	1.16, 1.21	
V	1.45	1.79	5.38	2.08	1.19	
	1.20, 1.75	1.69, 1.89	5.13, 5.65	1.84, 2.36	1.14, 1.24	
E	1.06	1.48	1.42	1.06	1.39	
	0.60, 1.88	1.32, 1.65	1.20, 1.69	0.60, 1.88	1.04, 1.86	
Т	1.49	1.34	2.90	2.17	1.09	
	1.26, 1.76	1.24, 1.44	2.56, 3.30	1.89, 2.50	1.03, 1.14	
<u>S</u>	6.72	1.31	1.81	1.64	0.93	
	1.93, 23.43	0.67, 2.57	0.8, 4.12	0.73, 3.70	0.57, 1.53	
OVERALL	1.33	2.23	3.58	1.40	1.16	
	1.29, 1.37	2.18, 2.28	3.51, 3.64	1.33, 1.47	1.14, 1.18	
c. Hospitalization risk rati	ios & 95% confidence intervals					
CIVET Cohort		RACE*				
	API	BLA	HIS	OTH	MALE	
С	1.35	1.41	1.21	0.88	1.36	
	1.08, 1.67	1.20, 1.66	1.02, 1.43	0.57, 1.37	1.24, 1.49	
I	0.88	1.23	1.34	0.86	1.34	
	0.57, 1.37	1.11, 1.37	1.19, 1.51	0.79, 0.93	1.25, 1.43	
V	1.03	0.91	0.91	1.51	1.19	
	0.92, 1.15	0.68, 1.21	0.68, 1.21	0.85, 2.70	1.10, 1.30	
E	1.26	1.11	0.76	0.76	3.13	
	1.02, 1.54	0.82, 1.52	0.21, 2.68	0.21, 2.68	1.22, 7.99	
T	1.41	1.86	2.43	1.59	1.25	
	0.97, 2.06	1.59, 2.17	1.94, 3.05	1.17.2.16	1.10, 1.42	

Table 3. Risk ratios of (A) SARS-CoV-2 testing, (B) positivity, (C) hospitalization, and (D) death. Risk ratios by race compared to White, Non-Hispanic persons; risk ratios by sex compared to Female persons. Specific CIVET cohort site names have been masked.

(Continued)

OVERALL	1.02	1.36	0.86	1.18	1.30		
	0.94, 1.10	1.28, 1.44	0.81, 0.90	1.04, 1.35	1.25, 1.36		
d. Death risk ratios & 95%	6 confidence intervals						
CIVET Cohort		RACE*					
	API	BLA	HIS	OTH	MALE		
С	0.68	0.89	0.48	1.03	2.05		
	0.42, 1.13	0.65, 1.22	0.33, 0.69	1.02, 1.04	1.62, 2.60		
I	1.03	0.48	0.91	0.33	1.40		
	1.02, 1.04	0.37, 0.63	0.69, 1.18	0.27, 0.40	1.19, 1.64		
V	0.35	0.90	0.90	0.84	1.40		
	0.25, 0.49	0.49, 1.63	0.49, 1.63	0.12, 5.98	1.13, 1.74		
E	1.64	2.22	1.68	1.68			
	1.02, 2.63	1.23, 4.01	0.25, 11.43	0.25, 11.43			
Т	1.01	1.44	1.69	1.85	2.29		
	1.01, 1.02	0.83, 2.51	0.68, 4.16	0.75, 4.58	1.45, 3.62		
OVERALL	0.51	1.17	0.41	1.12	1.70		
	0.41, 0.64	1.03, 1.32	0.35, 0.47	0.84, 1.50	1.53, 1.89		

#### Table 3. (Continued)

\*Reference Group for RACE: White

\*\*Reference Group for SEX: Female

Abbreviations: API = Asian/Pacific Islander; BLA = Black; HIS = Hispanic; OTH = Other Race.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276742.t003

Hispanic women (17% female vs. 20% male: RR = 1.18 [1.15-1.21]). When controlling for race/ethnicity, men were more likely to test positive than women (RR = 1.16 [1.14-1.18]).

The proportions of those testing positive who were hospitalized (Fig 1C) or died (Fig 1D) were significantly different by race/ethnicity (p<0.001) and sex (p<0.001). When controlling for race/ethnicity, men were more likely to be hospitalized (RR = 1.30 [1.25–1.36]; Table 3c) and to die (RR = 1.70 [1.53–1.89]; Table 3d). Diverging from the racial differences in testing and positivity, hospitalization (RR = 1.36 [1.28–1.44]) and mortality (RR = 1.17 [1.03–1.32]) were highest among Black patients.

#### Racial/ethnic and sex differences by health system type

The racial/ethnic differences in the proportion tested were attenuated in integrated health systems, but not negated. When stratified by health system classification, testing percentages between the integrated health systems and academic health systems varied (Fig 2A). Testing rates were higher across all racial/ethnic groups stratified by sex in integrated health systems compared with academic systems, except for Hispanic males (14% vs. 16%; RR = 0.86 [0.84–0.89]).

Positivity varied by health system type (Fig 2B). Notably, the percent of Hispanic patients who tested positive was much higher in the academic health systems than the integrated health systems, largely driving the high positivity percentages among Hispanic patients overall.

When stratified by health system, the percent of patients hospitalized for COVID-19 (Fig 2C) was lower in integrated health systems (RR = 0.63 [0.60-0.66]) when controlling for race and sex. Mortality rates were also lower in the integrated health systems (RR = 0.83 [0.74-0.94]). Deaths were higher among Black patients in academic health systems as compared to integrated health systems (RR = 1.39 [1.13-1.71]; Fig 2D).



**Fig 2.** Racial/ethnic and sex differences in COVID-19 outcomes in clinical cohorts stratified by health system classification for (A) SARS-CoV-2 testing, (B) positivity, (C) hospitalization, and (D) death. Overall percentages are calculated among clinical cohort population (N = 5,304,631). Asian/PI = Asian/Pacific Islander.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0276742.g002

Within the interval cohort, testing proportions (Fig 2A) were highest among Hispanic patients (42%) compared to all other racial/ethnic groups (36–37%, controlling for sex). When examining the interaction between race/ethnicity and sex, the interval cohort saw the highest testing percentages among males identifying as "other" race (43%) and Hispanic females (44%), and lowest among API males (30%) and White females (33%). Among those tested, positivity (Fig 2B) was significantly higher among API patients compared to all other racial/ ethnic groups (30% vs. 6–10%); this held true after examining the interaction of race/ethnicity and sex. Hospitalization and death data were not included for the interval cohort as these data were self-reported and not confirmed.

#### Discussion

The COVID-19 pandemic has brought the issues of health disparities and racial inequities in the United States to the forefront. This CIVET cohort analysis bolsters prior smaller, regional, and single-center studies [8, 21] by finding similar racial disparities in a large national cohort collaboration. Hispanic patients in the CIVET cohort had the highest proportion of positivity, [10, 21, 22, 35] while more severe COVID-19-related outcomes (hospitalization and death) were highest among Black patients [7, 22]. The size of the CIVET cohort allowed us to evaluate rates of COVID-19-related testing, positivity, hospitalization, and mortality stratified by race/ethnicity as well as sex. This analysis found the possibility of

an interaction between race/ethnicity and sex, such that Hispanic and Black men were at particular risk for testing positive and adverse outcomes, respectively. We report here on racial and sex differences across different care delivery models, demonstrating that the underlying susceptibility to infection and progression to more severe outcomes are not attributable to care delivery systems.

The observed racial differences have been previously associated with systemic inequities among vulnerable populations. Multiple factors may contribute to the higher risk of infection with SARS-CoV-2 and severe complications. Type of work and inability to social distance (e.g., essential workers, public-facing occupations) increased exposure to SARS-CoV-2 for many in the US, particularly minority workers [36]. Lower socioeconomic status and lack of access to healthcare are linked to a higher prevalence of chronic diseases among Black and Hispanic populations [3, 7, 10]. Additional cultural considerations, such as multi-generational housing and distrust of the medical community [37], contribute to increased infections and poorer outcomes [38]. These factors may increase the time between symptom onset and getting tested, leading to increased hospitalization and mortality. How these factors work alone and in synergy with each other need to be evaluated to understand why Black and Hispanic Americans had a higher burden of disease. While this cohort did not have economic or housing status data, we did have site-level data to describe access to care.

We have shown significant differences in COVID-19 testing and outcomes by health system type. The interval cohort includes participants who are closely affiliated with their healthcare providers, many having participated in the HIV study for decades. This group had a high rate of testing, which indicates they had the access and knowledge necessary to secure testing. Similarly, patients of the integrated health systems are established members of the system and have a well-defined entry point for all care, facilitating testing access. In contrast, the lowest levels of testing were seen in the academic setting, where patients may need to secure testing independently or are using the health system for the first time. Confirmation of infection is key to slowing the spread of disease, and while COVID-19 testing was in most places without patient cost, this evolved over time and early access to testing was more limited [5, 39]. Though many factors may influence this, we argue that different health systems afforded different opportunities for testing.

When comparing integrated health systems, with lower perceived barriers to care, to academic systems, we found that racial disparities were reduced but persisted in the integrated healthcare setting. While access to care is important, it represents the end of the disparity pathway, not the beginning; individual, household, and structural differences among Black and Hispanic populations and men may be driving forces leading to disparities in testing and outcomes related to COVID-19 regardless of access. Though we could not measure these factors directly, our results are consistent with disparities seen throughout the US. These results highlight the overarching need to address racial disparities for the long-term, not just in response to this pandemic. These findings should bolster the evidence to inform culturally competent policy changes to address health inequalities [38].

In addition to describing differences in COVID-19 testing and adverse outcomes, our findings correspond to the next phases of the pandemic: vaccination and long-term health consequences of COVID-19. The swift development and deployment of multiple vaccines have led to declines in cases, adverse outcomes, and deaths nationally [40]; however, differences in vaccination rates have mirrored those seen in this and other studies [41, 42]. This may reflect an association between testing hesitancy and vaccine hesitancy, for which many of the same tactics can be employed. Furthermore, demographic trends among COVID-19 cases and severe outcomes may extend to post-acute sequelae of COVID-19, known as PASC.

#### Limitations

This study does have limitations. To expedite data sharing and protect patient privacy, aggregated datasets were compiled by each cohort and submitted to KPMAS for analysis. While these summary-level data limited our capabilities with the analytic approach and did not allow for deeper dives into patient-level effects, the large sample size and diversity within each cohort provided adequate data to describe differences by race/ethnicity and sex in COVID-19 outcomes over an extended period. Additionally, some COVID-19-related data may have been missing due to lack of coding early in the pandemic or care that occurred outside of the represented cohorts not captured. Importantly, guidelines for testing differed by state and healthcare system over the course of the pandemic, and testing was ultimately at the discretion of clinicians and by patients to a limited extent. The known delays of death certificate data, which limited our ability to directly attribute deaths to COVID-19, may have contributed to larger variances in COVID-19 death estimations. However, our large sample size provided sufficient power for robust statistical analysis to generate findings. Further, we included only deaths among SARS-CoV-2 positive patients, if they occurred during our study period, therefore capturing inpatient deaths rather completely. We also acknowledge that no formal analysis was conducted to see if the CIVET cohorts were representative of the population; however, risk analysis attenuates this limitation by controlling for base population rates, thus maintaining the generalizability of our results.

There were limitations specific to each cohort. The interval cohort and one of the integrated health system cohorts are HIV cohort studies of persons with and without HIV, differing from the other health systems cohorts which represent whole populations; however, the proportion SARS-CoV-2 positive in the HIV cohort for this integrated health system are consistent with a national study [19]. For the interval cohort, test result and hospitalization data were self-reported (with confirmation in a subset) and subject to potential misclassification. This cohort did not have vital status post-COVID assessment available in time for this analysis so was not included in the analysis of death outcomes. Additionally, a cohort among the integrated health systems was unable to include pending lab results from SARS-CoV-2 tests. Finally, two cohorts (interval cohort and one among the integrated health systems) lacked insurance data. However, the strengths of the CIVET cohort (i.e., the heterogeneity with respect to geography, healthcare system type, number of patients, etc.) far outweigh its limitations.

#### Conclusions

This study identified significant racial/ethnic differences in COVID-19 outcomes within a large diverse cohort, which were attenuated in settings with lower barriers to care (i.e., integrated health systems), but not negated. Further research is needed to understand the underlying mechanisms behind why Hispanic and Black men in America have a higher burden of disease during the COVID-19 pandemic and how to combat those disparities.

#### Supporting information

**S1 Table. Cohort inclusion criteria.** \*The Kaiser Permanente Mid-Atlantic and Northern California HIV Registries are databases of members diagnosed with HIV since 1998. Primary sources used to identify HIV patients are HIV-specific laboratory tests, diagnosis by infectious disease physicians, hospital-based HIV diagnosis, and antiretroviral therapy. Abbreviations: Multicenter AIDS Cohort Study = MACS; PWH = Persons with HIV; PWoH = Persons without HIV; Women's Interagency HIV Study = WIHS. (PDF)

#### Acknowledgments

This work was a result of the Corona-Infectious-Virus Epidemiology Team (CIVET) of the North American AIDS Cohort Collaboration on Research and Design (NA-ACCORD), which is part of the International Epidemiology Databases to Evaluate AIDS [IeDEA]. This collaboration is led by Richard Moore (rdmoore@jhmi.edu) and Keri Althoff (kalthoff@jhu.edu) of Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine. All authors listed are a part of the organizations that comprise this collaboration.

#### **Author Contributions**

- **Conceptualization:** Celeena Jefferson, Eric Watson, Julia M. Certa, Lesley S. Park, Gypsyamber D'Souza, Lorie Benning, Alison G. Abraham, Sonia Napravnik, Michael J. Silverberg, Jacek Skarbinski, Carolyn Williams, Keri N. Althoff, Michael A. Horberg.
- **Data curation:** Celeena Jefferson, Eric Watson, Kirsha S. Gordon, Lesley S. Park, Gypsyamber D'Souza, Deana Agil, Wendy A. Leyden.
- Formal analysis: Celeena Jefferson, Eric Watson, Julia M. Certa, Michael A. Horberg.
- **Investigation:** Celeena Jefferson, Eric Watson, Julia M. Certa, Gypsyamber D'Souza, Deana Agil, Wendy A. Leyden, Michael A. Horberg.
- Methodology: Celeena Jefferson, Eric Watson, Julia M. Certa, Lesley S. Park, Lorie Benning, Sonia Napravnik, Michael J. Silverberg, Jacek Skarbinski, Carolyn Williams, Keri N. Althoff, Michael A. Horberg.
- Validation: Celeena Jefferson, Eric Watson, Julia M. Certa, Lesley S. Park, Gypsyamber D'Souza, Deana Agil, Wendy A. Leyden, Keri N. Althoff, Michael A. Horberg.
- Visualization: Celeena Jefferson.
- Writing original draft: Celeena Jefferson, Eric Watson, Julia M. Certa, Carolyn Williams, Keri N. Althoff, Michael A. Horberg.
- Writing review & editing: Celeena Jefferson, Eric Watson, Julia M. Certa, Kirsha S. Gordon, Lesley S. Park, Gypsyamber D'Souza, Lorie Benning, Alison G. Abraham, Deana Agil, Sonia Napravnik, Michael J. Silverberg, Wendy A. Leyden, Jacek Skarbinski, Carolyn Williams, Keri N. Althoff, Michael A. Horberg.

#### References

- Golestaneh L, Neugarten J, Fisher M, Billett HH, Gil MR, Johns T, et al. The association of race and COVID-19 mortality. EClinicalMedicine. 2020; 25:100455. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2020. 100455 PMID: 32838233
- Abedi V, Olulana O, Avula V, Chaudhary D, Khan A, Shahjouei S, et al. Racial, Economic, and Health Inequality and COVID-19 Infection in the United States. J Racial Ethn Health Disparities. 2021; 8 (3):732–42. Epub 2020/09/03. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-020-00833-4 PMID: 32875535.
- Greenaway C, Hargreaves S, Barkati S, Coyle CM, Gobbi F, Veizis A, et al. COVID-19: Exposing and addressing health disparities among ethnic minorities and migrants. J Travel Med. 2020; 27(7). Epub 2020/07/25. https://doi.org/10.1093/jtm/taaa113 PMID: 32706375.
- Khatana SAM, Groeneveld PW. Health Disparities and the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Pandemic in the USA. J Gen Intern Med. 2020; 35(8):2431–2. Epub 2020/05/29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-020-05916-w</u> PMID: 32462564.
- Kim EJ, Marrast L, Conigliaro J. COVID-19: Magnifying the Effect of Health Disparities. J Gen Intern Med. 2020; 35(8):2441–2. Epub 2020/05/13. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-020-05881-4 PMID: 32394141.
- Krouse HJ. COVID-19 and the Widening Gap in Health Inequity. Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2020; 163(1):65–6. Epub 2020/05/06. https://doi.org/10.1177/0194599820926463 PMID: 32366172.

- Kullar R, Marcelin JR, Swartz TH, Piggott DA, Macias Gil R, Mathew TA, et al. Racial Disparity of Coronavirus Disease 2019 in African American Communities. J Infect Dis. 2020; 222(6):890–3. Epub 2020/ 07/01. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiaa372 PMID: 32599614.
- Laurencin CT, McClinton A. The COVID-19 Pandemic: a Call to Action to Identify and Address Racial and Ethnic Disparities. J Racial Ethn Health Disparities. 2020; 7(3):398–402. Epub 2020/04/20. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1007/s40615-020-00756-0 PMID: 32306369</u>.
- Lieberman-Cribbin W, Tuminello S, Flores RM, Taioli E. Disparities in COVID-19 Testing and Positivity in New York City. Am J Prev Med. 2020; 59(3):326–32. Epub 2020/07/25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2020.06.005</u> PMID: 32703702.
- Macias Gil R, Marcelin JR, Zuniga-Blanco B, Marquez C, Mathew T, Piggott DA. COVID-19 Pandemic: Disparate Health Impact on the Hispanic/Latinx Population in the United States. The Journal of Infectious Diseases. 2020; 222(10):1592–5. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiaa474 PMID: 32729903
- Meyerowitz EA, Kim AY, Ard KL, Basgoz N, Chu JT, Hurtado RM, et al. Disproportionate burden of coronavirus disease 2019 among racial minorities and those in congregate settings among a large cohort of people with HIV. AIDS. 2020; 34(12):1781–7. Epub 2020/07/01. https://doi.org/10.1097/QAD. 00000000002607 PMID: 32604138.
- Misa NY, Perez B, Basham K, Fisher-Hobson E, Butler B, King K, et al. Racial/ethnic disparities in COVID-19 disease burden & mortality among emergency department patients in a safety net health system. Am J Emerg Med. 2020. Epub 2020/10/12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajem.2020.09.053</u> PMID: 33039228.
- Mody A, Pfeifauf K, Bradley C, Fox B, Hlatshwayo MG, Ross W, et al. Understanding Drivers of COVID-19 Racial Disparities: A Population-Level Analysis of COVID-19 Testing among Black and White Populations. Clin Infect Dis. 2020. Epub 2020/12/15. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa1848 PMID: 33315066.
- Nosyk B, Armstrong WS, Del Rio C. Contact Tracing for COVID-19: An Opportunity to Reduce Health Disparities and End the Human Immunodeficiency Virus/AIDS Epidemic in the United States. Clin Infect Dis. 2020; 71(16):2259–61. Epub 2020/04/28. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa501 PMID: 32339245.
- Selden TM, Berdahl TA. COVID-19 And Racial/Ethnic Disparities In Health Risk, Employment, And Household Composition. Health Aff (Millwood). 2020; 39(9):1624–32. Epub 2020/07/15. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1377/hlthaff.2020.00897 PMID</u>: 32663045.
- Vahidy FS, Nicolas JC, Meeks JR, Khan O, Pan A, Jones SL, et al. Racial and ethnic disparities in SARS-CoV-2 pandemic: analysis of a COVID-19 observational registry for a diverse US metropolitan population. BMJ Open. 2020; 10(8):e039849. Epub 2020/08/14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-039849 PMID: 32784264</u>.
- Van Dyke MEM, Maria C.B.; Li Wen; Parker Erin M.; Belay Brook; Davis Elizabeth M.; et al. Racial and Ethnic Disparities in COVID-19 Incidence by Age, Sex, and Period Among Persons Aged <25 Years— 16 U.S. Jurisdictions, January 1–December 31, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2021; 70:382–8. Epub March 19, 2021.
- Lee FC AL, Graves SJ, et al. Counties with High COVID-19 Incidence and Relatively Large Racial and Ethnic Minority Populations—United States, April 1–December 22, 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2021; 70:483–9. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7013e1 PMID: 33793463
- Rentsch CT, Kidwai-Khan F, Tate JP, Park LS, King JT, Skanderson M, et al. Patterns of COVID-19 testing and mortality by race and ethnicity among United States veterans: A nationwide cohort study. PLoS Med. 2020; 17(9):e1003379. Epub 2020/09/23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1003379</u> PMID: 32960880.
- Finelli L, Gupta V, Petigara T, Yu K, Bauer KA, Puzniak LA. Mortality Among US Patients Hospitalized With SARS-CoV-2 Infection in 2020. JAMA Netw Open. 2021; 4(4):e216556. Epub 2021/04/09. <u>https://</u> doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.6556 PMID: 33830226.
- Kaufman HW, Niles JK, Nash DB. Disparities in SARS-CoV-2 Positivity Rates: Associations with Race and Ethnicity. Popul Health Manag. 2021; 24(1):20–6. Epub 2020/09/29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/pop.</u> 2020.0163 PMID: 32985959.
- Escobar GJ, Adams AS, Liu VX, Soltesz L, Chen YI, Parodi SM, et al. Racial Disparities in COVID-19 Testing and Outcomes: Retrospective Cohort Study in an Integrated Health System. Ann Intern Med. 2021; 174(6):786–93. Epub 2021/02/09. https://doi.org/10.7326/M20-6979 PMID: <u>33556278 www.</u> acponline.org/authors/icmje/ConflictOfInterestForms.do?msNum=M20-6979.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Strategies for Reducing Health Disparities—Selected CDC-Sponsored Interventions, United States, 2016. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2016; 65.
- D'Souza G, Bhondoekhan F, Benning L, Margolick JB, Adedimeji AA, Adimora AA, et al. Characteristics of the MACS/WIHS Combined Cohort Study: Opportunities for Research on Aging With HIV in the Longest US Observational Study of HIV. American Journal of Epidemiology. 2021; 190(8):1457–75. https:// doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwab050 PMID: 33675224

- Gange SJ, Kitahata MM, Saag MS, Bangsberg DR, Bosch RJ, Brooks JT, et al. Cohort profile: the North American AIDS Cohort Collaboration on Research and Design (NA-ACCORD). Int J Epidemiol. 2007; 36(2):294–301. Epub 2007/01/11. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyl286 PMID: 17213214.
- UNC CFAR HIV Clinical Cohort. About the UCHCC: UNC School of Medicine; 2021 [cited 2021]. <u>https://globalhealth.unc.edu/uchcc/about/</u>.
- Justice AC, Dombrowski E, Conigliaro J, Fultz SL, Gibson D, Madenwald T, et al. Veterans Aging Cohort Study (VACS): Overview and description. Med Care. 2006; 44(8 Suppl 2):S13–24. Epub 2006/ 07/20. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.mlr.0000223741.02074.66 PMID: 16849964.
- Offical Website of the United States Census Bureau—2020 American Community Survey (ACS) S0101| AGE AND SEX. https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=age&y=2020
- Offical Website of the United States Census Bureau—2020 American Community Survey (ACS) DP05 ACS DEMOGRAPHICS AND HOUSING ESTIMATES <a href="https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=demographics&tid=ACSDP5Y2020.DP05">https://data.census.gov/cedsci/table?q=demographics&tid=ACSDP5Y2020.DP05</a>
- Association of Academic Health Centers. About Academic Health Centers 2021 [cited 2021]. https:// www.aahcdc.org/About/Academic-Health-Centers.
- Kadri SS, Gundrum J, Warner S, Cao Z, Babiker A, Klompas M, et al. Uptake and Accuracy of the Diagnosis Code for COVID-19 Among US Hospitalizations. JAMA. 2020; 324(24):2553–4. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1001/jama.2020.20323 PMID: 33351033
- World Health Organization. Emergency use ICD codes for COVID-19 disease outbreak [July 2, 2021]. https://www.who.int/standards/classifications/classification-of-diseases/emergency-use-icd-codes-forcovid-19-disease-outbreak.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. ICD-10-CM official coding guidelines—supplement coding encounters related to COVID-19 coronavirus outbreak (February 20, 2020 – March 31, 2020). https:// www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/icd/interim-coding-advice-coronavirus-March-2020-final.pdf2020 [July 2, 2021].
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. New ICD-10-CM code for the 2019 Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19), April 1, 2020 (Effective: March 18, 2020). https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/icd/Announ cement-New-ICD-code-for-coronavirus-3-18-2020.pdf2020 [July 2, 2021].
- Weng C-H, Saal A, McGuire DC, Chan PA. Persistently high SARS-CoV-2 positivity rate and incidence for Hispanic/Latinos during state reopening in an urban setting: a retrospective cohort study. Epidemiology and infection. 2021; 149:e25–e. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268821000133 PMID: 33455608.
- Yancy CW. COVID-19 and African Americans. JAMA. 2020; 323(19):1891–2. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jama.2020.6548 PMID: 32293639
- 37. Institute of Medicine Committee on Understanding Eliminating Racial Ethnic Disparities in Health Care. In: Smedley BD, Stith AY, Nelson AR, editors. Unequal Treatment: Confronting Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Care. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); 2003.
- Cuellar NG, Aquino E, Dawson MA, Garcia-Dia MJ, Im EO, Jurado LM, et al. Culturally Congruent Health Care of COVID-19 in Minorities in the United States: A Clinical Practice Paper From the National Coalition of Ethnic Minority Nurse Associations. J Transcult Nurs. 2020; 31(5):434–43. Epub 2020/08/ 15. https://doi.org/10.1177/1043659620941578 PMID: 32794439.
- Hasell J, Mathieu E, Beltekian D, Macdonald B, Giattino C, Ortiz-Ospina E, et al. A cross-country database of COVID-19 testing. Scientific Data. 2020; 7(1):345. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41597-020-00688-8</u> PMID: 33033256
- 40. Christie A, Henley SJ, Mattocks L, Fernando R, Lansky A, Ahmad FB, et al. Decreases in COVID-19 Cases, Emergency Department Visits, Hospital Admissions, and Deaths Among Older Adults Following the Introduction of COVID-19 Vaccine—United States, September 6, 2020–May 1, 2021. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2021; 70:858–64. Epub June 11, 2021. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7023e2 PMID: 34111059
- Amenta EM, Spallone A, Rodriguez-Barradas MC, El Sahly HM, Atmar RL, Kulkarni PA. Postacute COVID-19: An Overview and Approach to Classification. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2020; 7(12):ofaa509. Epub 2021/01/07. https://doi.org/10.1093/ofid/ofaa509 PMID: 33403218.
- 42. Whiteman A WA, McCain K, et al.. Demographic and Social Factors Associated with COVID-19 Vaccination Initiation Among Adults Aged ≥65 Years—United States, December 14, 2020–April 10, 2021. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2021; 70:725–30. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7019e4 PMID: 33983911